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Defendants  Lance Murkin (“Murkin”) and Real Wealth, Inc., a corporation, also d/b/a

American Financial Publications, Emerald Press, Financial Research, National Mail

Order Press, Pacific Press, United Financial Publications, Wealth Research Marketing

Group, and Wealth Research Publications (“Real Wealth”) (collectively, “Defendants”)

for alleged violations of § 5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

Section 5(a) prohibits unfair or deceptive acts in or affecting commerce.  Defendant

Real Wealth, Inc. is a Missouri corporation, and Defendant Murkin is its president,

manager, and sole owner.

The FTC claims Defendants have engaged in a variety of illegal business

activities that have generated millions of dollars from marketing their schemes to at

least 100,000 consumers nationwide.  The various schemes all offer a simple

opportunity to make substantial income, and defendants promoted the schemes through

direct-mail solicitations and magazine advertising.  There are two general categories: 

work-at-home products and grant-related products and services.  Based on Murkin’s

estimate, the FTC asserts that Defendants derived gross revenues from these schemes

in the amount of $10,400,397.10 from 2004 through 2009.

The FTC filed its Complaint for Permanent Injunction and Other Equitable Relief

(“Complaint”) pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15

U.S.C. § 53(b), against Defendants on January 21, 2010 (Doc. No. 1).  The FTC

concurrently filed a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order with Asset Freeze (Doc.

No. 3).  This Court entered a Temporary Restraining Order against Defendants on

January 26, 2010 (“TRO”) (Doc. No.13), which prohibited defendants from making false

representations in connection with money-making schemes, froze defendants’ assets,

and granted the FTC leave to conduct certain expedited discovery.  Defendants agreed
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showing that a genuine issue of material fact exists.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1), (e); Lower

Brule Sioux Tribe v. South Dakota, 104 F.3d 1017, 1021 (8th Cir. 1997).  To determine

whether the disputed facts are material, courts analyze the evidence in the context of

the legal issues involved.  Lower Brule, 104 F.3d at 1021.  Thus, the mere existence of

factual disputes between the parties is in
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Both express and implied representations are actionable under Section 5(a).  See FTC

v. Figgie Int’l, Inc., 994 F.2d 595, 604 (9th Cir. 1993). 

A solicitation is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably if the express or

implied representation made by the solicitation is false, or if the advertiser “lacked a

reasonable basis – or adequate substantiation – for asserting that the representation

was true.”  FTC v. Nat’l Urological Group, 645 F. Supp. 2d 1167, 1190 (N.D. Ga. 2008). 

A solicitation may be likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably “by virtue of the net

impression it creates even though [it] also contains truthful disclosures.” 

Cyberspace.com, 453 F.3d at 1200.  The FTC need not prove that consumers actually

relied on the misrepresentations; rather, “the FTC need merely show that the

misrepresentations or omissions were of a kind usually relied upon by reasonable and

prudent persons, that they were widely disseminated, and that the injured consumers

actually purchased the defendants’ product.”  FTC v. Security Rare Coin & Bullion

Corp., 931 F.2d 1312, 1316 (8th Cir. 1991).

B.  Material Uncontroverted Facts

The FTC relies upon 95 facts it deems material and uncontroverted to support its

Motion for Summary Judgment.  In their Reply Suggestions, Defendants explicitly adopt

the first fourteen of those facts, but in 
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Murkin’s unsubstantiated and self-serving affidavits which fail to show that “a fact . . . is

genuinely disputed.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1).  Moreover, the assertions in Murkin’s

affidavit are not supported by admissible evidence and largely contradict Defendants’

own documents and testimony.  The affidavits thus do not satisfy the requirements of

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(4) (“An affidavit or declaration used to support or oppose a motion

must be made on personal knowledge, set out facts that would be admissible in

evidence, and show that the affiant or declarant is competent to testify on the matters

stated.”).

The Court finds that each of the FTC’s Material Facts set forth in its Suggestions
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all of which allege that Defendants violated § 5(a) of the FTC Act.  Section 5(a) prohibits

“unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce.”  Misrepresentations or

deceptive omissions of material fact constitute deceptive acts or practices prohibited by

§ 5(a).

Plaintiff seeks monetary relief in the amount of $10,400,397.10, the amount

Defendants admit they received in gross revenues from sales of their work-at-home

products and grant-related products in the form of booklets and pamphlets, and grant

location services, to thousands of consumers throughout the United States. (See Doc.

No. 117, Material Facts 15 and 22) Defendants’ efforts to qualify their admission with

self-serving affidavits that have no admissible evidence in support thereof are

unavailing.

Although Defendants stipulate to the entry of a Permanent Injunction, they argue

that such Injunction should not include a ban against the sale or marketing of any work-

at-home or grant-related product or service because their past conduct does not warrant

the prohibition.  Their argument is without merit.  Defendants do not dispute the material

facts that Plaintiff set forth to demonstrate the need for broad injunctive relief, including

customer complaints and refunds, previous investigations concerning Defendants’

deceptive business practices, Defendants’ knowledge that their business practices were

deceptive, and Murkin’s recent attempt to continue such business practices with the

start of a “networking marketing” business.  (See Doc. No. 117, Material Facts 73-95). 

These facts demonstrate that consumers have suffered substantial injury as a result of

Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act, and § 13(b) of the Act empowers the Court to

grant injunctive and other relief as the Court deems appropriate to halt violations of

FTC-enforced laws.  15 U.S.C. § 53(b) (“in a proper case. . . and after proper proof, the
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court may issue a permanent injunction”).

IV.  ORDER

Accordingly, the Court orders:

This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this case and of the parties

hereto;

Venue is proper in this District under 15 U.S.C. § 53(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)

and (c);

The activities alleged in the Complaint are in or affecting commerce as that term

is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44;

The Complaint states a claim upon which relief may be granted under Sections

5(a) and 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and 53(b);

Defendants have violated Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and

53(b) as alleged in Counts I through III the Complaint;

All of Defendants’ assets frozen pursuant to Section II of the TRO (Doc. No. 13)

and Section II of the Stipulated Preliminary Injunction (Doc. No. 70) have been and

continue to be held in constructive trust for consumers who purchased Defendants’

work-at-home opportunities or grant-related products or services. 

Defendant Murkin filed a petition for relief under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy

Code on March 25, 2011 in the Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Missouri, in

the case styled In Re Murkin, Case No. 11-41305-dvd7 (“Murkin Bankruptcy Case”).

The Commission’s prosecution of this action, entry of judgment, and enforcement

of a judgment other than a money judgment are excepted from the automatic stay under

11 U.S.C. § 362(b)(4), as an exercise of its police or regulatory powers.  The

continuation of the asset freeze injunction is also excepted from the stay under 11
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U.S.C. § 362(b)(4) to the extent set forth in the Asset Freeze section of this Order.

Entry of this Final Judgment and Order for Permanent Injunction (“Final

Judgment”) is in the public interest.  It is also appropriate in light of Defendants’

violations of Sections 5(a) and 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and 53(b); and

This Final Judgment is remedial in nature and shall not be construed as payment

of a fine, penalty, punitive assessment, or forfeiture.

DEFINITIONS 

For purposes of this Final Judgment, the following definitions shall apply:  

1. “Asset” means any legal or equitable interest in, right to, or claim to, any

real and personal property, including, but not limited to, “goods,” “ instruments,”

“equipment,” “fixtures,” “general intangibles,” “inventory,” “checks,” “notes” (as these

terms are defined in the Uniform Commercial Code), and all chattel, leaseholds,

contracts, mail or other deliveries, shares of stock, lists of consumer names, accounts,

credits, premises, receivables, funds, reserve funds, and cash, wherever located.

2.
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4. “Defendants”  means the Individual Defendant and the Corporate

Defendant, individually, collectively, or in any combination.

5. “FTC” or “Commission”  means Federal Trade Commission.

6. “Grant-related product or service”  means any product or service,

including a plan or program, that is represented, directly or by implication, to assist a

consumer in any manner in obtaining money, a grant, or similar type of financial

assistance from the government or any other source.  

7. “Individual Defendant” means Lance Murkin.  

8. “Material” means likely to affect a person’s choice of, or conduct

regarding, goods and services.

9. “Person” means a natural person, organization, or other legal entity,

including a corporation, partnership, proprietorship, association, limited liability

company, cooperative, or any other group or combination acting as an entity.

10. “Relate to”  means refer to, concern, regard, reflect, discuss, constitute,

mention, pertain to, allude to or associate with.  “Relating to” means referring to,

concerning, regarding, reflecting, discussing, constituting, mentioning, pertaining to,

alluding to or associated with.

11. “Representatives” means officers, agents, servants, employees, and

attorneys; and those in active concert or participation with Defendants who receive

actual notice of this order by personal service or otherwise.

12. “Work-at-home opportunity” means any program, plan, product, or

service represented, expressly or by implication, to assist an individual in any manner to

earn money while working from home or any location other than the business premises

of the Defendants or their Representatives.
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2. Making, in any manner, expressly or by implication, any false or

misleading statement or representation of material fact, term, or condition, including but

not limited to any false or misleading statement regarding:

a. The total costs to purchase, receive, or use, and the quantity of,

such products or services;

b. Any material restriction, limitations, or condition to purchase,

receive, or use such products or services;

c. Any material aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature or central

characteristics of such products or services;

d. Any material aspect of the nature or terms of the refund,

cancellation, exchange, or repurchase policies applicable to such

products or services; and 

e. The amount or type of resources or labor required to make money

using such products or services.

C.  PROHIBITIONS AGAINST DISC LOSURE OF CUSTOMER INFORMATION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants and their Representatives are permanently

restrained and enjoined from:

1. Disclosing, using, or benefitting from customer information, including the

name, address, telephone number, e-mail address, social security number, other

identifying information, or any data that enables access to a customer’s account

(including a credit card, bank account, or other financial account), of any person that

was obtained by any Defendant prior to entry of this Final Judgment in connection with

the sale of any product or service; and
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2. Failing to dispose of such customer information in all forms in their

possession, custody, or control within thirty (30) days after entry of this Final Judgment. 

Disposal shall be by means that protect against unauthorized access to the customer

information, such as by burning, pulverizing, or shredding any papers, and by erasing or

destroying any electronic media, to ensure that the customer information cannot

practicably be read or reconstructed. 

Provided, however, that customer information need not be disposed of, and may be

disclosed, to the extent requested by a government agency or required by a law,

regulation, or court order.

D.  MONETARY JUDGMENT

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:

A.  Judgment is hereby entered in favor of the Commission and against

Defendants, jointly and severally, in the amount of TEN MILLION FOUR HUNDRED

THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED NINETY-SEVEN DOLLARS AND TEN CENTS

($10,400,397.10), which is the amount of injury suffered by consumers.  The Court has

previously ruled that this is the proper measure of monetary relief in this case.  (Doc.

No. 115 at § III(3), adopting the analysis and conclusions set forth in Doc. No. 111); 

B. All frozen assets of Defendants are subject to a constructive trust in favor

of such consumers; and  

C. All funds paid pursuant to this Final Judgment shall be deposited into a

fund administered by the Commission or its agents to be used for equitable relief,

including but not limited to redress to consumers, and any attendant expenses for the

administration of such equitable relief.  In the event that direct redress to consumers is

wholly or partially impracticable or funds remain after redress is completed, the
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Commission may apply any remaining funds for such other equitable relief (including

consumer information remedies) as it determines to be reasonably related to

Defendants’ practices alleged in the Complaint.  Any funds not used for such equitable

relief shall be deposited to the United States Treasury as disgorgement.  The

Defendants shall have no right to challenge the Commission’s choice of remedies under

this Paragraph.  The Defendants shall have no right to contest the manner of

distribution chosen by the Commission.
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2. Opening or causing to be opened any safe deposit boxes titled in the

name of any of the Defendants, or subject to access by any of the Defendants;

3.  Obtaining a personal or secured loan encumbering the Assets of

Defendants;

4. Incurring charges or cash advances on any credit or debit card issued in

the name, singly or jointly, of the Corporate Defendants, or any corporation, partnership,

or other entity directly or indirectly owned or controlled by any of the Defendants; 

5.        Incurring liens or other encumbrances on real property, personal property,

or other Assets titled in the name, individually or jointly, of Defendants or of any

corporation, partnership or other entity directly or indirectly owned, managed or

controlled by Defendants; and 

6. Failing to disclose to the FTC, upon service of this Final Judgment,

information that fully identifies each Asset of the Defendants, and each entity holding

such Asset, including, without limitation, the entity’s name, address, and telephone

number, the number of the account, and the name under which the account is held. 

Provided however, the freeze imposed in this Section shall apply to: (a) Assets

existing at the time the TRO was entered (January 26, 2010); (b) any Assets any

Defendant acquired after the time the TRO was entered (and before the entry of this

Final Judgment) if the Assets were derived from activity prohibited by the TRO or

Stipulated Preliminary Injunction; and (c) any Assets any Defendant acquired after the

time this Final Judgment was entered if the Assets were derived from activity prohibited

by this Final Judgment.  

F.  DUTIES OF ASSET HOLDERS

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any financial or brokerage institution, any

business entity, or any other person having possession, custody, or control of any
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business hours to any business location in each Defendant’s possession or direct or

indirect control to inspect the business operation;

2. In addition, the Commission is authorized to use all other lawful means,

including but not limited to:

a. obtaining discovery from any person, without further leave of court,

using the procedures prescribed by Fed. R. Civ. P. 30, 31, 33, 34,

36, 45 and 69;

b. having its employees or agents pose as consumers and suppliers

to Defendants, their employees, or any other entity managed or

controlled in whole or in part by any Defendant, without the

necessity of identification or prior notice; and

3. Defendants each shall permit employees or agents of the Commission to

interview any employer, consultant, independent contractor, representative, agent, or

employee who has agreed to such an interview, relating in any way to any conduct

subject to this Final Judgment.  The person interviewed may have counsel present.

Provided however, that nothing in this Final Judgment shall limit the Commission’s

lawful use of compulsory process, pursuant to Sections 9 and 20 of the FTC Act, 15

U.S.C. §§ 49, 57b-1, to obtain any documentary material, tangible things, testimony, or

information relevant to unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce

(within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1)).

H.  COMPLIANCE REPORTING

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purpose of monitoring and investigating 

compliance with any provision of this Final Judgment:

1. For a period of five (5) years from the date of entry of this Final Judgment, 
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acts or practices subject to this Final Judgment; or a change in the

business name or address, at least thirty (30) days prior to such

change, provided that, with respect to any such change in the

business entity about which a Defendant learns less than thirty (30)

days prior to the date such action is to take place, such Defendant

shall notify the Commission as soon as is practicable after

obtaining such knowledge. 

2. One hundred eighty (180) days after the date of entry of this Final

Judgment and annually thereafter for a period of five (5) years, Defendants each shall

provide a written report to the Commission, which is true and accurate and sworn to

under penalty of perjury, setting forth in detail the manner and form in which they have

complied and are complying with this Final Judgment.  This report shall include, but not

be limited to:

a. For the Individual Defendant:

i. Defendant’s then-current residence address, mailing

addresses, and telephone numbers;

ii. Defendant’s then-current employment status (including self-

employment), including the name, addresses, and telephone

numbers of each business that Defendant is affiliated with,

employed by, or performs services for; a detailed description

of the nature of the business; and a detailed description of

Defendant’s duties and responsibilities in connection with the

business or employment;

iii. Any other changes required to be reported under Paragraph

1 of this Section. 
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b. For all Defendants:

i. A copy of each acknowledgment of receipt of this Final

Judgment, obtained pursuant to the Section titled

“Distribution of Order;” and

ii. Any other changes required to be reported under Paragraph

1 of this Section.

3. Each Defendant shall notify the Commission of the filing of a bankruptcy

petition by such Defendant within fifteen (15) days of filing.

4. For the purposes of this Final Judgment, Defendants shall, unless

otherwise directed by the Commission’
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I.  RECORD-KEEPING PROVISIONS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for a period of eight (8) years from the date of

entry of this Final Judgment, the Corporate Defendant and the Individual Defendant, for

any business for which he is the majority owner or directly or indirectly controls,  are

hereby restrained and enjoined from failing to create and retain the following records:

1. Accounting records that reflect the cost of goods or services sold,

revenues generated, and the disbursement of such revenues;

2. Personnel records accurately reflecting:  the name, address, and

telephone number of each person employed in any capacity by such business, including

as an independent contractor; that person’s job title or position; the date upon which the

person commenced work; and the date and reason for the person's termination, if

applicable;

3. Customer files containing the names, addresses, phone numbers, dollar

amounts paid, quantity of items or services purchased, and description of items or

services purchased, to the extent such information is obtained in the ordinary course of

business;

4. Complaints and refund requests (whether received directly, indirectly, or

through any third party) and any responses to those complaints or requests; 

5. Copies of all sales scripts, training materials, advertisements, or other

marketing materials; and

6. All records and documents necessary to demonstrate full compliance with

each provision of this Final Judgment, including but not limited to, copies of

acknowledgments of receipt of this Final Judgment required by the Sections titled

“Distribution of Order” and “Acknowledgment of Receipt of Order” and all reports

submitted to the Commission pursuant to the Section titled “Compliance Reporting.”
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J.  DISTRIBUTION OF ORDER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for a period of five (5) years from the date of

entry of this Final Judgment, Defendant shall deliver copies of the Final Judgment as

directed below:

1. Corporate Defendant: The Corporate Defendant must deliver a copy of

this Final Judgment 

to (a) all of its principles, officers, directors, and managers; (b) all of its employees,

agents, and representatives who engage in conduct related to the subject matter of the

Final Judgment; and (c) any business entity resulting from any change in structure set

forth in the Section titled “Compliance Reporting.”  For current personnel, delivery shall

be within five (5) days of service of the Final Judgment upon such Defendant.  For new

personnel, delivery shall occur prior to them assuming their responsibilities.  For any

business entity resulting from any change in structure set forth in the Section titled

“Compliance Reporting,” delivery shall be at least ten (10) days prior to the change in

structure.  

2. Individual Defendant as Control Person:  For any business that Individual

Defendant controls, directly or indirectly, or in which any Defendant has a majority

ownership interest, Individual Defendant must deliver a copy of this Final Judgment to

(a) all principals, officers, directors, and managers of that business; (b) all employees,

agents, and representatives of that business who engage in conduct related to the

subject matter of the Final Judgment; and (c) any business entity resulting from any

change in structure set forth in the Section titled “Compliance Reporting.”  For current

personnel, delivery shall be within five (5) days of entry of this Final Judgment.  For new

personnel, delivery shall occur prior to them assuming their responsibilities.  For any

business entity resulting from any change in structure set forth in the Section titled
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